

University of Kentucky UKnowledge

DNP Projects

College of Nursing

2018

Assessment of Alcohol Withdrawal Syndrome Incidence and Identification of Other Correlating Risk Factors in Patients Admitted Through the Emergency Department

Hannah Young University of Kentucky, hannah.young@uky.edu

Follow this and additional works at: https://uknowledge.uky.edu/dnp_etds

Part of the Critical Care Nursing Commons, Psychiatric and Mental Health Nursing Commons, and the Public Health and Community Nursing Commons

Right click to open a feedback form in a new tab to let us know how this document benefits you.

Recommended Citation

Young, Hannah, "Assessment of Alcohol Withdrawal Syndrome Incidence and Identification of Other Correlating Risk Factors in Patients Admitted Through the Emergency Department" (2018). *DNP Projects*. 196.

https://uknowledge.uky.edu/dnp_etds/196

This Practice Inquiry Project is brought to you for free and open access by the College of Nursing at UKnowledge. It has been accepted for inclusion in DNP Projects by an authorized administrator of UKnowledge. For more information, please contact UKnowledge@lsv.uky.edu.

STUDENT AGREEMENT:

I represent that my DNP Project is my original work. Proper attribution has been given to all outside sources. I understand that I am solely responsible for obtaining any needed copyright permissions. I have obtained and attached hereto needed written permission statements(s) from the owner(s) of each third-party copyrighted matter to be included in my work, allowing electronic distribution (if such use is not permitted by the fair use doctrine).

I hereby grant to The University of Kentucky and its agents a royalty-free, non-exclusive and irrevocable license to archive and make accessible my work in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known. I agree that the document mentioned above may be made available immediately for worldwide access unless a preapproved embargo applies. I also authorize that the bibliographic information of the document be accessible for harvesting and reuse by third-party discovery tools such as search engines and indexing services in order to maximize the online discoverability of the document. I retain all other ownership rights to the copyright of my work. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of my work. I understand that I am free to register the copyright to my work.

REVIEW, APPROVAL AND ACCEPTANCE

The document mentioned above has been reviewed and accepted by the student's advisor, on behalf of the advisory committee, and by the Assistant Dean for MSN and DNP Studies, on behalf of the program; we verify that this is the final, approved version of the student's DNP Project including all changes required by the advisory committee. The undersigned agree to abide by the statements above.

Hannah Young, Student

Dr. Melanie Hardin-Pierce, Advisor

Running head: ASSESSMENT OF ALCOHOL WITHDRAWAL SYNDROME

DNP Final Project Report

Assessment of Alcohol Withdrawal Syndrome Incidence and Identification of Other Correlating

Risk Factors in Patients Admitted Through the Emergency Department

Hannah Young

University of Kentucky College of Nursing

Spring 2018

Melanie Hardin-Pierce, APRN, DNP, ACNP-BC -Committee Chair

Sheila Melander Ph.D., APRN, ACNP-BC, FCCM, FAANP, FAAN- Committee

Member

Lewis Perkins, DNP, APRN, GNP-BC, NEA-BC - Committee Member/ Clinical Mentor

Dedication

This work, all previous work, and my DNP project is dedicated to my three beautiful daughters, Layla, Zoe, and Riley, who have inspired me to continue on this journey no matter what. As well as my family, and friends, who have been there by my side, and pushed me through, and held me up as I have progressed through this last three years of strenuous work. Finally to all of my work family who have provided me with support, and help in so many ways to make this dream come true.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank and express great appreciation for all those that made this project and degree possible throughout this program. My advisor Dr. Melanie Hardin-Pierce for her support, and hours of undivided counseling to get this project through IRB, and having the patience and dedication to support me through the hurdles of my personal life. You have been a wonderful cheerleader, and mentor. To Lewis Perkins, who has helped support me in this program, and as well as checking in on me on a personal level to ensure that I was able to finish completely healthy, and intact.

I would also like to thank all of the many teachers, and staff of the University of Kentucky involved in this program, who have given their time, and dedication to helping me grow into a prepared practitioner. To the Norton Healthcare corporation for the opportunity to go to school, and for providing clinical opportunities. To my preceptors that have answered my thousands of questions, and providing me with amazing learning experiences.

Table of Contents

Acknowledgmentsiii
List of Tables vi
List of Figures vi
Abstractvii
Introduction1
Background1
Purpose4
Methods5
Setting5
Sample5
Data Collection6
Data Analysis6
Results7
Sample Characteristics7
Alcohol Use Screening Adherence7
Patient Demographics
Correlations to Outcomes
Discussion10
Alcohol Use Screening Documentation Adherence10
Alcohol Withdrawal Syndrome Incidence11
Patient Demographics11
Length of Stay/ICU days12

ASSESSMENT OF ALCOHOL WITHDRAWAL SYNDROME

Restraint Use Incidence	12
Mortality	13
Limitations	13
Recommendations for Future Studies	14
Conclusion	15
References	17

List of Tables

Table 1: Descriptive Summary of ED Patients	
Table 2: Associations Between Demographic Variables, Patient Outcomes, and	Alcohol
Use Screening	
Table 3: Hospital Adherence to Alcohol Use Screening	
List of Figures	
Appendix A: Data Collection Tool for Patient Information23	

Appendix B: Alcohol Withdrawal Assessment Scoring Guidelines......24

Abstract

<u>PURPOSE:</u> The purpose of this project was to measure adherence rates to the current alcohol use screening process, and identification of correlations of alcohol use and outcomes in patients admitted to Norton Hospital, via the emergency department. <u>METHODS:</u> The study design is a retrospective descriptive evaluation, of adherence to the current alcohol use screening process, and associations among age, gender, ethnicity, length of stay, number of ICU days, restraint use days, level of care at admission (ICU, TCU, LLM/tele, MS), incidence of AWS/DTs, and activation of the CIWA protocol among the adult inpatient population of Norton Hospital's downtown campus, admitted via the emergency department (ED), for greater than 24 hours, between April 2016 and April 2017. The sample consisted of 300 randomly selected patient charts, using the inclusion criteria.

<u>RESULTS:</u> It was found that overall screening adherence for alcohol use on patients admitted from the emergency room was nearly 100%. Among the study population 26.3% screened positive, 4.3% had the specific diagnosis of alcohol withdrawal syndrome, 4.7% were treated with CIWA protocol. Those who screened positive were more likely to be male, with a mean age of 49.8 years. No statistical differences in ethnicity, level of care at admission, restraint use, mortality, number of ICU days, and length of stay were found within the study sample population, between those who screened positive or negative for alcohol use at admission.

<u>CONCLUSION:</u> Further research needs to be done to better understand associations between alcohol use screening and ethnicity, level of care at admission, restraint use,

length of stay, number of ICU days and mortality in the overall population at Norton Hospital's downtown campus. Retrospective review revealed that there was a high level of adherence to the alcohol use screening process by the health care staff. The screening process for alcohol use at admission is well documented within those admitted via the emergency department. Assessment of Alcohol Withdrawal Syndrome Incidence and Identification of Other Correlating

Risk Factors in Patients Admitted Through the Emergency Department

Introduction

With alcohol and substance abuse problems continuing to rise rapidly throughout our nation, we are in need of a way to ensure proper identification and treatment of alcohol withdrawal syndrome in persons who present to the emergency department, and undergo an abrupt cessation of alcohol consumption due to an acute illness, and hospitalization. This study is designed to determine if there was adherence to an established alcohol use screening process during the time frame, ensuring that those who are at risk for the development of alcohol withdrawal syndrome are being treated with the Clinical Institute Withdrawal Assessment (CIWA) protocol, and to determine correlating risk factors and demographics. This study was designed with alignment of Neuman's Systems Model nursing theory. Treating the patient as a fluid and dynamic being responding to their own personal environment leading to sickness and establishing health, using primary, secondary and tertiary care interventions. Focusing on the patient as a whole, with multidimensional, layers of well-being: physiological, physiochemical, psychological, sociocultural and spiritual (Petiprin, 2016).

Background

As the problem with alcohol abuse and other substances continues to grow exponentially throughout our nation, and in particular in the state of Kentucky, we have seen a steady rise of alcohol withdrawal syndrome (AWS) incidence within the general hospital inpatient population. Approximately 9% of the adults in the United States meet the criteria for alcohol abuse (Burns, 2015). Within the general inpatient population alcohol withdrawal syndrome (AWS) can present in nearly 30% of patients; if left untreated AWS has a 15% mortality rate (Ungur, Neuner, John,

Wernecke, & Spies, 2013). With early recognition and treatment, however, that mortality rate falls dramatically to 2% (Ungur et al., 2013).

At the downtown campus of the 379 bed Norton Hospital in Louisville, KY, there were 16,768 inpatient admissions in 2015 (*US News Health Care Report*, 2016). Based on the 30% incidence of AWS in the general inpatient population, this could have left 5,030 patients at risk, or 113 patients on any given day for the development of alcohol related complications that year. By ensuring that patients are screened for alcohol use at the time of hospital admission, a primary healthcare intervention, we have the opportunity to identify patients at risk for AWS so that timely prevention and/or treatment, a secondary healthcare intervention, can occur.

The abrupt cessation of alcohol intake by alcohol dependent patients puts them at risk for withdrawal, and a variety of complications. These include development of AWS, post-operative complications and infections, increased length of stay and death (Bard et al., 2006). All of which can upset the balance of the wellness continuum described by Neuman's Systems Model. This can also cause problems for the hospital itself. For example the staff can be at risk of burnout, due to stress from caring for confused and combative patients; also it can be difficult to determine whether a patient's confusion is due to AWS or another diagnosis, leading to increased costs and unnecessary testing (Ungar et al., 2013). In addition, the hospital is at risk for increased post-operative complication rates, increased length of stay, and increased mortality, all of which lead to increased costs related to alcohol induced complications in the United States amounted to \$21 billion (Trevejo-Nunez, Kolls, & De Wit, 2016).

Currently, the screening tool for alcohol use at Norton Hospital is a yes or no question asked during the admission assessment within the admission navigator in the electronic medical record system EPIC. This important screening tool is not linked to prompt the provider to initiate treatment if the patient screens positive. The current standard of care treatment for AWS at Norton Hospital is utilized with the Clinical Institute Withdrawal Assessment (CIWA). This protocol is a thorough nursing assessment done by the bedside nurse, using severity of ten symptoms of withdrawal, each tied to a number based upon level of severity. These ten numbers are then added together for an overall composite score. The composite score is then referenced for the appropriate treatment and frequency of reassessment (Appendix B). If the alcohol use screening is left undocumented it leaves potentially hundreds of patients at risk for untreated AWS, and preventable healthcare dollars wasted.

The evidence shows that treatment preventing AWS at the earliest possible juncture, with a protocol for symptom triggered management such as the CIWA protocol, produces the best outcomes (Rubinsky et al., 2013; Melson, Kane, Mooney & McWilliams, 2014). These outcomes include a decrease in the development of AWS and Delirium Tremens (DTs), as well as decreases in use of restraints, a need for intensive care unit level of care, length of stay, risk of infections (sepsis, pneumonia, and surgical site), and complications from organ dysfunction (Melson, et al., 2014; Ungur, et al., 2013).

By screening all patients for alcohol use at admission via the emergency department, (where a large portion of the inpatient admissions occur at Norton Hospital's downtown campus), and ensuring adherence to the documentation of the current method in the admission navigator under alcohol use screening, we can capture a larger percentage of patients who will qualify for treatment, and monitor for complications of AWS. In turn reducing alcohol use related complications and improvement of outcomes such as length of stay, utilization of higher levels of care, use of restraints, and mortality. As improvement in these things can reduce health care cost and increase patient satisfaction.

Purpose

The purpose of this project was to measure adherence rates to the current alcohol use screening process and identify outcomes (length of hospital stay, number of ICU days, restraint use, level of care at admission, and mortality), of patients admitted to Norton Hospital. The adherence to the current alcohol screening process was reviewed via retrospective chart review. The specific aims of this project were:

- Measure adherence rate to the current alcohol use screening process, on all adults (those greater than 18 years of age), admitted as inpatients from the emergency department (ED), for greater than 24 hours between April 2016 and April 2017.
- 2. Identify subject demographics (medical record number, age, ethnicity, and gender), length of stay, number of ICU days, restraint use days, mortality, level of care at admission (ICU, Telemetry Care [TCU], Monitored Medical-Surgical [LLM/tele] or Non-monitored medical surgical [MS]), incidence of AWS/DTs, and activation of the CIWA protocol in all adult patients admitted through the ED, for greater than 24 hours between April 2016 and April 2017.
- 3. Perform in-group comparisons of subject demographics (age, ethnicity, gender), length of stay, number of ICU days, restraint use days, mortality, level of care at admission (ICU, TCU, LLM/tele, or MS), incidence of AWS/DTs, and activation of the CIWA protocol, among adult patients who screened positive for alcohol use, patients who screened negative for alcohol

use, and those patients who were not screened for alcohol use upon admission from the ED for greater than 24 hours, between April 2016 and April 2017.

Methods

This study was a single-center, retrospective, descriptive evaluation of adherence to the current alcohol use screening process, and the associations between age, gender, ethnicity, length of stay, number of ICU days, mortality, level of care at admission, incidence of AWS/DTs, and the activation of the CIWA protocol, among the adult inpatient population of Norton Hospital downtown campus, admitted via the ED.

Setting

Norton Hospital is one of five main hospitals of the Norton Healthcare System, and is the focus of this study. Norton Hospital's downtown campus is a general medical surgical hospital, with 379 inpatient beds, located in the urban, downtown area of Louisville, KY (*US News Health Report*, 2016). It serves a large population from Jefferson County and many of the outlying, rural areas. This site was selected for use in this study as it provides care to a wide range of patients, and has a highly utilized emergency room, from which the patients were selected.

Sample

The primary population for this study consisted of adult inpatients admitted through the ED for greater than 24 hours between April 2016 and April 2017 at Norton Hospital's downtown campus. From this primary population, 300 patients were randomly selected for the study.

To meet inclusion criteria for this study, subjects had to be adults, aged greater than 18 years and, admitted as inpatients via the ED, for greater than 24 hours to Norton Hospital's downtown campus between April 2016 and April 2017.

Because AWS/DTs occur mostly in the adult population, minors were excluded, from this study.

Data Collection

Prior to the collection of data, approval was obtained from the University of Kentucky Institutional Review Board (IRB) and the Norton Healthcare Office of Research and Administration (NHORA). This study was conducted as a retrospective chart review. The research office of Norton Healthcare randomly selected patient charts for the study from the Norton Hospital electronic patient database and sent to the primary investigator. During data collection, the patient charts were accessed using the patient medical record number, data for the study were collected, and transferred to an electronic spreadsheet, made by this primary investigator, using the patients de-identified unique study ID, and the demographic and outcome variables requested to be collected. The following demographic variables (age, ethnicity, and gender), and outcome variables (length of stay, number of ICU days, restraint use, restraint use days, mortality, incidence of AWS/DTs, level of care at admission, activation of the CIWA protocol, and alcohol use screening documentation) were reviewed.

Data Analysis

Descriptive statistics, including means, standard deviations, ranges, medians, and percentages were used to describe the patient demographic and outcome variables. Only one individual was not screened for alcohol use, therefore group comparisons of study variables were based on those who screened positive versus negative for alcohol use. Continuous variables were compared between those who screened positive, and those that screened negative for alcohol use, using the independent sample *t*-tests. For categorical variables the chi-squared test of association, or the Fisher's exact test was used. The Mann-Whitney U-test was used to

6

compare groups on length of hospital stay, and number of ICU days outcomes, since the distributions were skewed. All statistical analysis was done using SPSS version 24 and an alpha level of .05 was used for statistical significance throughout.

Results

Sample Characteristics

For this study, 300 charts were reviewed from randomly selected patients' charts meeting the inclusion criteria. The mean age for the collective sample was 55.9 years old (SD=17.3), and over half (59.7%; see Table 1) were female. The majority of the population was Caucasian (55.3%), followed by African-American (43.3%). The largest portion of admissions went to a TCU level of care (35.3%) and MS (35.3%), followed by ICU (16.7%). The use of restraints among the sample was low (5.3%). The median length of hospital stay in days was 5 days, (1-214 days). Among the 50 patients who were identified as having been in the ICU the median number of days in ICU was 3 days (1-32). Mortality was high (16.0%) among the sample population. Only 1 patient was identified as not being screened for alcohol use (eliminating it as a group for comparison within the study), a majority of the sample was screened negative for alcohol use (73.3%), followed by those who screened positive for alcohol use (26.3%).

Alcohol Use Screening Adherence

For the collective study sample the adherence rate to the alcohol use screening documentation was high, at 99.7%; finding that only one patient was not screened at admission. Approximately one quarter (26.3%) of screened patients yielded a positive result.

Patient Demographics

The patient demographics collected during this study were age, ethnicity, and gender. There were no statistical differences found in ethnicity, or age, between those who screened positive and those who screened negative for alcohol use.

For gender, it was broken into male and female. For the overall study population the majority of patients were female (59.7%). For those who screened positive for alcohol use approximately a third were male (33.9%). There was statistical significance (p=.016) that males were more likely to screen positive for alcohol use, as was concurrent with the literature.

Correlations to outcomes

The following outcome variables were collected in this study: level of care at admission, length of stay, number of ICU days, use of restraints and length of use, if there was a diagnosis of AWS/DTs, if the CIWA protocol for withdrawal treatment was activated, and mortality. For the overall study population 50 patients (16.7%) were admitted to the ICU, 144 patients (48%) were admitted to the TCU, and 106 patients (35.3%) were admitted to the MS units. For those who screened positive for alcohol use 16 (20.3%) went to the ICU, 29 (36.7%) went to the TCU, and 34 (43%) went to MS units. For those who screened negative for alcohol use 34 (15.5%) went to the ICU, 115 (52.3%) went to the TCU, and 71 (32.3%) went to the MS units. There was no statistically significant difference (p=.113) for the level of care at admission between those who screened positive and those who screened negative for alcohol use.

The median length of stay (LOS) for the study population was five days, with a minimum of one day and the maximum of 214 days. For those who screened positive for alcohol use the median LOS was four days, with a minimum of one day, and a maximum of 61 days. For those that screened negative the median LOS was five days, with a minimum of one day, and a

maximum of 214 days. Using the Mann-Whitney U test it was determined that there was no significant differences in the two groups (p=.975).

The number of ICU days for the study population was a median of three days, with a minimum of one day, and a maximum of 32 days. For patients who screened positive for alcohol use the number of ICU days was a median of two days, with a minimum of one day, and a maximum of 16 days. For those who screened negative for alcohol use the median number of ICU days was three days, with a minimum of one day, and a maximum of 32 days. No statistically significant differences were found between the two groups.

Restraints were used in 16 patients, 5.3% out of the overall study population. Of those who screened positive for alcohol use there were six patients (7.6%) who were placed in restraints, for a median of two days. Restraints were used in 10 patients (4.5%), who screened negative for a median of two days. There was no statistically significant difference in the use of restraints between the two groups (p=.380).

There were 13 patients (4.3%) with an actual diagnosis of AWS or DTs, all of whom screened positive for alcohol use, and were treated with the CIWA protocol. Only one patient who screened negative for alcohol use at admission, was found to actually need treatment for alcohol withdrawal and was treated with the CIWA protocol within the sample, making a total of 14 patients (4.7%) treated for AWS within the study sample population.

Mortality in the overall study population was shown to be 16.0% (48 patients). Those who screened positive for alcohol use four patients (5.1%) were deceased at the end of the hospital admission. For those that screened negative for alcohol use 44 patients (20.0%) were found to be deceased at the end of hospital admission. There was a significant correlation

(p=.002) between screening negative for alcohol use and mortality, opposite of the current literature.

Discussion

This study sought to determine adherence rates for alcohol use screening documentation on patients admitted to Norton Hospital's downtown campus via the emergency department. In addition it sought to measure subject demographics (age, gender and ethnicity), and measure outcomes including hospital length of stay, number of ICU days, use of restraints and length of use, incidence of AWS/DTs, level of care at admission, incidence of activation of the CIWA protocol, and mortality, among the study population. An in-group comparison between those who screened negative for alcohol use, those who screened positive for alcohol use and, those who were not screened, was done to determine any associations of outcomes to a particular group. The results showed that only one person was not screened for alcohol use making that group obsolete for comparison.

Alcohol Use Screening Documentation Adherence

The rate of adherence to the alcohol use screening documentation within the admission history was 99.7%. There is a selectable response of yes, no, or not asked, in which the nursing staff or care treatment team is able to document. This result is very high, showing consistent adherence, with no need for a performance improvement intervention. Further expansion of the study population to all methods of admission, not just those from the ED, may yield different results, and could be examined in another study. Expansion into the primary care setting as well could help provide insight to the consistency across the entire healthcare continuum and Norton Healthcare system.

Alcohol Withdrawal Syndrome Incidence

With adherence to the alcohol use screening at nearly 100%, the hospital was able to capture 79 patients (26.3%), within the study population who were at risk for developing AWS/DTs. This aligns closely with the national average of nearly 30% of the inpatient population (Ungur et al., 2013). In addition 14 patients (16.3%) were determined to need treatment for withdrawal symptoms using the CIWA protocol. This shows that with high adherence to screening for alcohol use the treatment team is able to use that information to provide the earliest, and best care using the CIWA protocol when indicated, producing the best possible outcomes for patients (Rubinsky et al., 2013; Melson, et al., 2014).

Patient Demographics

Those patients in the study sample population who screened positive for alcohol use were statistically younger at 49.8 years (p<.001), compared to those that screened negative (58.2 years) and the overall population (55.9 years). This seems to be appropriate and expected, as younger people consume more alcohol, and more regularly, (Burns, 2015).

There was also evidence that males are more likely to screen positive for alcohol use than females (p= .016), which is consistent with the literature reviewed, that males tend to participate in riskier behaviors (Ungar, et al., 2013).

No relationship was found between ethnicity and results of the alcohol use screening in this study (p=.479). All patients who screened positive for alcohol use were either Caucasian (55.7%) or African-American (44.3%) in this study. As alcohol misuse is found in all people regardless of ethnicity, this finding aligns with other research (Ungar, et al., 2013).

In conclusion those patients who screened positive for alcohol use in this study were males of approximately 50 years of age, and nearly equally distributed among ethnicities.

Length of Stay/ICU days

In this study it was surprisingly found that those who screened positive for alcohol use had a shorter length of stay, at four days, compared to five days for those who screened negative. Though not statistically significant, it is clinically significant and this difference may be due in part to the population's method of admission (via the ED), and the patients' other medical conditions and primary diagnoses. Another factor that could have influenced the data was that all 13 patients identified for treatment with the CIWA protocol, screened positive for alcohol use and treated appropriately, potentially decreasing sequelae from withdrawal and potentiating a shorter length of stay. Future studies could examine this more closely.

There was found to be no significant difference between a patients' positive or negative screening for alcohol use and the number of days they spent in the ICU. For those who screened positive there was a median of two ICU days, and for those who screened negative there was a median of three ICU days. This slight difference may be due to patients being treated with the CIWA protocol when withdrawal was identified, to reduce escalation of care or time needed in the ICU. This too could be examined more closely in a future study.

Restraint Use Incidence

Although there was a slightly higher incidence of restraint use in those patients who screened positive for alcohol use (7.6%) compared to, those who screened negative (4.5%), there was no statistically significant difference (p=.550) between the two groups. This could be due to a low incidence of restraint use within the overall group, with only 16 patients (5.3%) having been placed in restraints. Reasoning for placement of restraints could be examined in future studies to determine if it was due to sequelae of withdrawal, such as delirium or agitation.

Mortality

Surprisingly, there was a 16% mortality rate among the overall study population, and an equally shocking finding of a significantly lower mortality rate among those who screened positive for alcohol use compared to the overall population and to those who screened negative for alcohol use (p= .002). Those who screened positive for alcohol use had a 5.1% mortality rate, with only four patients found to be deceased at the end of the hospital admission. Those who screened negative for alcohol use had a 20.0% mortality rate, with 44 patients found to be deceased at the end of the hospital admission. Those who screened negative for alcohol use had a 20.0% mortality rate, with 44 patients found to be deceased at the end of the hospital admission. There are several factors that may be skewing the data in this unexpected direction. One factor may be the population itself, as most people admitted to the hospital from the ED often have more life-threatening diagnoses or substantial illnesses, than alcohol use or withdrawal. Another factor that may have skewed the data is the high adherence rate to the alcohol use screening and use of treatment with the CIWA protocol, which could have decreased the severity of sequelae from withdrawal and reduced the incidence of life-threatening complications.

Limitations

There were several limitations identified in the design of this study. The first one is the study's population being limited to admissions from the ED. Looking at only the ED could have affected the results of this study in multiple ways, such as the adherence to screening for alcohol use. It is possible that this particular department is more stringent in documenting this portion of the admission history, compared to other departments within the hospital. Mortality and length of stay, including number of ICU days could have been affected by only using admissions from the ED. Many people who are seen, treated, and admitted by way of the ED have significant or life-threatening injuries or medical problems, leading to higher rates of death and length of stay,

compared to other patients. Post-elective surgery patients, for example, have an expected length of stay and discharge plan. Patients admitted from the ED may not have this.

Another limitation of this study was, using only one of the Norton Healthcare hospitals that serve this community. Different results may be obtained by using more than one site, as the other facilities serve patients with some of the same demographics. Future research could compare between the facilities to ensure that adherence to the screening process for alcohol use and treatment with the CIWA protocol is similar across the Norton Healthcare system.

Recommendations for Future Studies and Next Steps

The results of this study suggest several opportunities for further research into screening for alcohol use at admission. It may be helpful to expand the sample population to all methods of admission, not just via the ED. This would allow a broader look at the population that Norton Hospital (downtown campus) serves. This could be taken further to include the other Norton Healthcare facilities, including the primary and immediate care facilities, to ensure system wide consistency with documentation for alcohol use as well as treatment with the CIWA protocol for withdrawal, in the hospital setting. Further investigation of the use of the CIWA protocol could also include the time frame of alcohol use screening at hospital admission, to the time of activation of the protocol. This could assist with determining how closely these two variables are correlated.

As well as determining that screening for alcohol use is not just being done within a hospital admission, and is being monitored and documented within the primary care arena as well. Many of the patients seen as inpatients access care outside of the hospital itself. The records of those patients that seek care within the Norton Healthcare system, either in the hospital, primary care or immediate care setting, are accessible to any provider that sees them

within the Norton Healthcare system. Allowing ease of follow-up and ability for full review of all care provided. As screening is a primary healthcare intervention it should also be done prior to a stressor such as a hospital admission.

A more in depth investigation into some of the variables such as mortality, length of stay, number of ICU days, and restraint use may be helpful in determining a trend, and/or reasoning why some of the results of this study were not as expected. For example, why there was lower mortality within the group that screened positive for alcohol use. This could be done by collecting data regarding admitting diagnoses and past medical history to determine the comorbidity burden. As well as socioeconomic characteristics, that may impact mortality.

There may also be value in expanding this study to include screening for substance abuse to determine if there are correlations between alcohol use and substance abuse, and if we are treating this population with the best evidence based care as well. This is especially relevant as the number of opioid related deaths and complications continue to rise in this area of the country. Gathering this data as well could give us as healthcare providers a better insight to the full spectrum of the underlying problems our patients face. To ensure that we are not just treating one problem such as alcohol withdrawal, when there are other problems that need to be addressed in addition, such as opioid misuse and withdrawal, that often complicate treatment plans. This data can also help to determine the extent of the problems in this community and provide information about the demands of the community, so that we can help those in need, and find out how the Norton Healthcare system can provide these services.

Conclusion

The aim of this study was to measure adherence rates to the current alcohol use screening process and identify outcomes of patients admitted to Norton Hospital via the emergency

15

department. In addition, to identify subject demographics (age, ethnicity, and gender), length of stay, number of ICU days, incidence of restraint use and number of days used, mortality, incidence of AWS/DTs, and activation of the CIWA protocol.

In-group comparisons of subject demographics (age, ethnicity, gender), length of stay, number of ICU days, restraint use days, mortality, level of care at admission (ICU, TCU, LLM/tele, or MS), incidence of AWS/DTs, and activation of the CIWA protocol, among adult patients who screened positive for alcohol use, patients who screened negative for alcohol use, and those patients who were not screened for alcohol use upon admission determined that those who will screen positive for alcohol use are males, with a median age of 49.8 years old. It was also identified that the adherence rate for screening for alcohol use was nearly 100%, within the study's sample population. Surprisingly it was identified that those who screened positive for alcohol use and should be examined more in depth in the future. As well as a more comprehensive dissection of the results regarding length of stay, number of ICU days, and the use of restraints, as none of these results were found to have statistically significant differences among those that screened negative and positive for alcohol use.

This study has laid the ground work for future studies about alcohol use screening, and providing the best evidence-based care to the population served at Norton Hospital's downtown campus.

References

- Alcoholic Liver Disease. (2012). Retrieved from http://liver-disease-symptoms.com/alcoholicliver-disease
- Bard, M. R., Goettler, C. E., Toschlog, E. A., Sagraves, S. G., Schenarts, P. J., Newell, M. A., ...
 Rotondo, M. F. (2006). Alcohol Withdrawal Syndrome: Turning Minor Injuries Into a
 Major Problem. *The Journal of TRAUMA, Injury, Infection and Critical Care*, *61*, 14411446. http://dx.doi.org/10.109701.ta.0000245981.22931.43
- Burns, M. J. (2015). Delerium Tremens (DTs). Retrieved from http://emedicine.medscape.com/article/166032-overview
- Clark, B. J., Smart, A., House, R., Douglas, I., Burnham, E. L., & Moss, M. (2012, March 2012). Severity of Acute Illness is Associated with Baseline Readiness to Change in Medical Intensive Care Unit Patients with Unhealthy Alcohol Use. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res*, 32, 544-551. http://dx.doi.org/10.111/j.1530-0277.2011.01648.x
- Crispo, A. L., Daley, M. J., Pepin, J. L., Harford, P. H., & Brown, C. V. (2014). Comparison of Clinical Outcomes in Nonintubated Patients with Severe Alcohol Withdrawal Syndrome Treated with Continuous-Infusion Sedatives: Dexmedetomidine versus Benzodiazepines. *Pharmacotherapy*, 34, 910-917. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/phar.1448
- Curhan, G. C., Aronson, M. D., & Preminger, G. M. (2015, January 22). Diagnosis and acute management of suspected nephrolithiasis in adults []. Retrieved from www.uptodate.com
- Dunham, C. M., & Chirichella, T. J. (2012). Trauma Activation Patients: Evidence for Routine Alcohol and Illicit Drug Screening. *Public Library of Science ONE*, 7(10), 1-6. http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0047999
- Fahy, P., Croton, G., & Voogt, S. (2011, January). Embedding routine alcohol screening and brief interventions in a rural general hospital. *Drug and Alcohol Review*, 30(), 47-54. http://dx.doi.org/10.111/j.1465-3362.2010.00195.x
- Healthy People 2010. (2010). Retrieved from http://healthypeople.gov/2010
- Hinde, J. M., Bray, J. W., Aldridge, A., & Zarkin, G. A. (2015, July 2015). The Impact of a Mandated Trauma Center Alcohol Intervention on Readmission and Cost per Readmission in Arizona. *Medical Care*, 53, 639-645. http://dx.doi.org/10.1097/MLR.00000000000381

- Melson, J., Kane, M., Mooney, R., McWilliams, J., & Horton, T. (2014). Improving Alcohol Withdrawal Outcomes in Acute Care. *The Permanente Journal*, *Vol 18 No. 2*, 141-145. http://dx.doi.org/dx.doi.org/10.7812/TPP/12-099
- Mirijello, A., D'Angelo, C., Ferrulli, A., Vassallo, G., Antonelli, M., Caputo, F., ... Addolorato, G. (2015, February 10). Identification and Management of Alcohol Withdrawal
 Syndrome. *Therapy in Practice*, 353-365. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s40265-015-0358-1
- Nath, B., Li, Y., Carroll, J. E., Szabo, G., Tseng, J. F., & Shah, S. A. (2010, September 14, 2010). Alcohol Exposure as a Risk Factor for Adverse Outcomes in Elective Surgery. *Journal of Gastrointestinal Surgery*, 14, 1732-1741. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11605-010-1350-4
- Neville, K., & Roan, N. (2014, June 2014). Challenges in Nursing Practice: Nurses' Perceptions in Caring for Hospitalized Medical-Surgical Patients With Substance Abuse/Dependence. *The Journal of Nursing Administration*, 44, 339-346. http://dx.doi.org/10.1097/NNA.000000000000079
- O'Brien, A., Leonard, L., & Deering, D. (2012). Could an advanced practice nurse improve detection of alcohol misuse in the emergency department? *International Journal of Mental Health Nursing*, 21, 340-348. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1447-0349.2011.00797.x
- Petiprin, Alice, (2016) Neuman's Systems Model. Retrieved from https://www.nursingtheory.org
- Rockett, I. R., Putnam, S. L., Jia, H., Chang, C. F., & Smith, G. S. (2005, February 2005). Unmet Substance Abuse Treatment Need, Health Services Utilization, and Cost: A Population-Based Emergency Department Study. *Annals of Emergency Medicine*, 45, No.2(), 118-127. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.annemergmed.2004.08.003
- Rose, H. L., Miller, P. M., Nemeth, L. S., Jenkins, R. G., Nietert, P. J., Wessell, A. M., & Ornstein, S. (2008). Alcohol screening and brief counseling in a primary care hypertensive population: a quality improvement intervention. *Addiction Research Report-Society for the Study of Addiction*, *103*, 1271-1280. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1360-0443.2008.02199.x
- Rubinsky, A. D., Bishop, M. J., Maynard, C., Henderson, W. G., Hawn, M. T., Harris, A. H., ...Bradley, K. A. (2013, May 16, 2013). Postoperative risks associated with alcohol

screening depend on documented drinking at the time of surgery. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, *132*, 521-527. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2013.03.022

- Saitz, R., Palfai, T. P., Chang, D. M., Horton, N. J., Freedner, N., Dukes, K., ... Samet, J. H.
 (2007, February 6, 2007). Brief Intervention for Medical Inpatients with Unhealthy
 Alcohol Use: A Randomized Control Trial. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, *146*(3), 167-176. Retrieved from www.annals.org
- Trevejo-Nunez, G., Kolls, J. K., & De Wit, M. (2016). Alcohol Use as A Risk Factor in Infections and Healing: A Clinician's Perspective. *Alcohol Research: Current Reviews*, *Vol 2 No 2*, e1-e8. Retrieved from http://www.arcr.niaaa.nih.gov/arcr/

US News Health Care Report [Press release]. (2016,). Retrieved from www.health.usnews.com

- Ungur, L. A., Neuner, B., John, S., Wernecke, K., & Spies, C. (2013, April). Prevention and Therapy of Alcohol Withdrawal on Intensive Care Units: Systematic Review of Controlled Trials. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research*, 37, 675-686. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/acer.12002
- Ycaza-Gutierrez, M. C., Wilson, L., & Altman, M. (2015, December 2016). Bedside Nurse-Driven Protocol for Management of Alcohol/Polysubstance Abuse Withdrawal. *Critical Care Nurse*, 35(6), 73-76. http://dx.doi.org/10.4037/ccn2015194

Variable	Mean (SD); median (range); n (%)
Age	55.9 years (17.3)
Gender	
Male	121 (40.3%)
Female	179 (59.7%)
Race/Ethnicity	
White	166 (55.3%)
African American	130 (43.3%)
Other	4 (1.3%)
Level of care	
ICU	50 (16.7%)
TCU	144 (35.3%)
MS	106 (35.3%)
Restraints	
Yes	16 (5.3%)
No	284 (94.7%)
Length of hospital stay in days	5 (1-214)
Number of ICU days	3 (1-32)
Mortality	
Deceased	48 (16.0%)
Alive	252 (84.0%)
Alcohol screening	
Positive	79 (26.3%)
Negative	220 (73.3%)
Not screened	1 (0.3%)
Diagnosis of AWS	13 (4.3%)
Diagnosis of DTs	1 (0.3%)
CIWA protocol activated	
Yes	14 (4.7%)

Table 1. Descriptive summary of ED patients (N=300)

	Screening positive	Screened negative	р
	(n=79)	(n=220)	
	Mean (SD) or n (%)	Mean (SD) or n (%)	
Age	49.8 years (14.5)	58.2 years (17.8)	<.001
Gender			
Male	41 (33.9%)	80 (66.1%)	.016
Female	38 (28.3%)	140 (78.7%)	
Race			
White	44 (55.7%)	122 (55.5%)	.479
African-American	35 (44.3%)	94 (42.7%)	
Other	0 (0)	4 (1.8%)	
Level of Care			
ICU	16 (20.3%)	34 (15.5%)	.113
TCU	29(36.7%)	115 (52.3%)	
MS	34 (43.0%	71 (32.3%)	
Restraints			
Yes	6 (7.6%)	10 (4.5%)	.302
No	73 (92.4%)	210 (95.5%)	
Length of Hospital Stay in Days	4 (1-61)	5 (1-214)	.975
Number of ICU days	2 (1-16)	3 (1-32)	.994
Mortality			
Deceased	4 (5.1%)	44 (20.0%)	.002
Alive	75 (94.9%)	176 (80.0%)	

Table 2. Associations between Demographic Variables, Patient Outcomes, and Alcohol Use Screening (n=299)

ASSESSMENT OF ALCOHOL WITHDRAWAL SYNDROME

Variable	Admission level of care ICU (n=50)	Admission level of care TCU (n=144)	Admission level of care MS (n=106)
Hospital			
screening			
Adherence			
0-20%=0			
21-40%=1			
41-60%=2			
61-80%=3			
81-100%=4	Х	X	X
Actual %	100%	100%	99.1%
	50/50	144/144	105/106
Overall hospital			
adherence rate			
(not level of care			
separated)			
(n=300)			
% of screening	99.7%		
done	299/300		

Table 3: Hospital Adherence to Alcohol Use Screening

Appendix A Data Collection Tool for Patient Information

Variable	Patient 1A	Patient 1B	Patient 1C	Patient 1D
Age				
Actual age				
Sex				
Male=0				
Female=1				
Ethnicity				
White=1				
African-				
American=2				
Other/unknown=3				
Alcohol use				
Yes=0				
No=1				
Not documented=2				
Length of Stay				
(days)				
Actual number of				
days				
CIWA protocol				
activated				
Yes=0				
No=1				
Number ICU days				
Actual # of days (if				
applicable)				
Restraints				
Yes=0				
No=1				
# of days used				
Diagnosis of AWS				
Yes=0				
No=1				
Diagnosis of DTs				
Yes=0				
No=1				
Mortality				
Deceased=0				
Alive=1				
Level of care at				
admission				
ICU=0				
TCU=1				
MMS=2				
MS=3				

Appendix B

Alcohol Withdrawal Assessment Scoring Guidelines (CIWA - Ar)

Nausea/Vomiting - Rate on scale 0 - 7	Tremors - have patient extend arms & spread fingers. Rate on scale 0 - 7.
	0 - No tremor
0 - None	1 - Not visible, but can be felt fingertip to fingertip 2
3	5
4 - Intermittent nausea 5	4 - Moderate, with patient's arms extended 5
	6
8	7 - severe, even w/ arms not extended
7 - Constant nausea and frequent dry heaves and vomiting	
Anxiety - Rate on scale 0 -	Agitation - Rate on scale 0
7 0 - no anxiety, patient at	- 70 - normal activity
ease 1 - mildly anxious	1 somewhat normal
2	activity 2
2	2
5	3
4 - moderately anxious or guarded, so anxiety is	4 - moderately fidgety and
inferred 5	restless 5
Paroxysmal Sweats - Rate on Scale 0 - 7.	Orientation and clouding of sensorium - Ask, "What day is
0 - no sweats	this? Where are you? Who am I?" Rate scale $0 - 4$
noist 2	1 - cannot do serial additions or is uncertain about date
2	
3	2 - disoriented to date by no more than 2
4 - beads of sweat obvious on	calendar days 3 - disoriented to date by more
forehead 5	
Lactile disturbances - Ask, "Have you experienced any itching ping & poodles sonsation burning or numbross	Auditory Disturbances - Ask, "Are you more aware of sounds around you? Are they hereb? Do they startle you?
or a feeling of bugs crawling on or under your skin?"	Do you hear anything that disturbs you or that you know
	isn't there?"
0 - none	0_{-} not present
numbness 2 - mild itching, pins & needles, burning, or	1 - Very mild harshness or ability to
or numbness	startle 2 - mild harshness or ability to
3 - moderate itching, pins & needles, burning, or	startle
numbness 4 - moderate hallucinations	3 - moderate harshness or ability to
	startle 1 moderate hallusinations
Visual disturbances - Ask, "Does the light appear to be	Headache - Ask, "Does your head feel different than
too bright? Is its color different than normal? Does it	usual? Does it feel like there is a band around your head?"
hurt your eyes? Are you seeing anything that disturbs	Do not rate dizziness or lightheadedness.
you or that you know isn't there?"	
0 - not present	0 not present
1 - very mild	U - not present
sensitivity 2 - mild	$\begin{array}{c} 1 - v \in I y \text{inite} \\ 0 \text{mild} \end{array}$
sensitivity	2 - milu
3 - moderate sensitivity	3 - moderate
4 - moderate	4 - moderately

- 1. Assess and rate each of the 10 criteria of the CIWA scale. Each criterion is rated on a scale from 0 to 7, except for "Orientation and clouding of sensorium" which is rated on scale 0 to 4. Add up the scores for all ten criteria. This is the total CIWA-Ar score for the patient at that time. Prophylactic medication should be started for any patient with a total CIWA-Ar score of 8 or greater (ie. start on withdrawal medication). If started on <u>scheduled</u> medication, additional PRN medication should be given for a total CIWA-Ar score of 15 or greater.
- 2. Document vitals and CIWA-Ar assessment on the Withdrawal Assessment Sheet. Document administration of PRN medications on the assessment sheet as well.
- 3. The CIWA-Ar scale is the most sensitive tool for assessment of the patient experiencing alcohol withdrawal. Nursing assessment is vitally important. Early intervention for CIWA-Ar score of 8 or greater provides the best means to prevent the progression of withdrawal.

ASSESSMENT OF ALCOHOL WITHDRAWAL SYNDROME

Assessment Protocol	Data												
a. Vitals. Assessment Now.	Date												
b. If initial score ≥ 8 repeat q1h x 8	Time												
hrs, then if stable q2h x 8 hrs, then	Pulse												
if stable q4h.	DD												
c. If initial score < 8 , assess q4h x /2 hrs. If score < 8 for 72 hrs. d/c			-										-
assessment. If score ≥ 8 at any	O_2 sat												
time, go to (b) above.	BP												
d. If indicated, (see indications below)													
administer prin medications as													
below.													
Assess and rate each of the following (CIW)	A-Ar Scale):	Refer	to rever	se for de	tailed ins	truction	s in use o	of the CIV	WA-Ar		1		
Noncos (non $(0, 7)$		scale.		1	1	1		1		1	1	1	
Nausea/volliting $(0 - 7)$	rmittent												
nausea; 7 - constant nausea, frequent dry heav	/es &												
vomiting.													
Tremors (0 - 7)	1 .												
w/ arms extended: 7 - severe, even w/ arms no	- moderate t extended.												
Anxiety (0 - 7)				Ì									
0 - none, at ease; 1 - mildly anxious; 4 - mode	rately												
anxious or guarded; 7 - equivalent to acute part A_{a}	nic state												
Agitation (U - /)	vity: A -												
moderately fidgety/restless; 7 - paces or consta	antly												
thrashes about													
Paroxysmal Sweats (0 - 7)													
0 - no sweats; 1 - barely perceptible sweating moist: 4 - beads of sweat obvious on forehead	, palms · 7 -												
drenching sweat	, ,												
Orientation (0 - 4)													
0 - oriented; 1 - uncertain about date; 2 - disor	iented to												
2 days;	date by >												
4 - disoriented to place and / or person													
Tactile Disturbances (0 - 7)													
0 - none; 1 - very mild itch, P&N, ,numbness; itch P&N burning numbness; 3 - moderate it	2-mild ch P&N												
burning ,numbness; 4 - moderate hallucination	ns; 5 -												
severe hallucinations;													
hallucinations	luous												
Auditory Disturbances (0 - 7)													
0 - not present; 1 - very mild harshness/ ability	to startle;												
2 - mild narshness, ability to startle; 3 - moder harshness, ability to startle; 4 - moderate hallu	ate cinations:												
5 severe hallucinations;													
6 - extremely severe hallucinations; 7 -													
Visual Disturbances (0 - 7)		1		1	1	1	1	1		1	1	1	
0 - not present; 1 - very mild sensitivity;	2 - mild												
sensitivity; 3 - moderate sensitivity; 4 - moderate hall	icinations: 5 -												
severe hallucinations; 6 - extremely severe	ere												
hallucinations; 7 - continuous hallucinations													
Headache $(0 - 7)$	domotos d												
o - not present; 1 - very mild; 2 - mild; 3 - moderately severe; 5 - severe: 6 - very severe:	ierate; 4 - 7 - extremelv												
severe													
Total CIWA-Ar score:													
	•												
PKN Med: (circle Dose	given												
I oraze (mg)	Dorta												
pam	Koute:												
Time of PRN medication		1		1	1	1	1	1		1	1	1	
administration:													

Assessment of response (CIWA-Ar score 30-60 minutes after medication administered) RN Initials											
Scale for Scoring:Total Score = $0-9$: absent or minimalwithdrawal 10 - 19: mild tomoderate withdrawal morethan 20: severe withdrawal	Indications for PRN medication: a. Total CIWA-AR score 8 or higher if ordered PRN only (Symptom-triggered method). b. Total CIWA-Ar score 15 or higher if on Scheduled medication. (Scheduled + prn method) Consider transfer to ICU for any of the following: Total score above 35, q1h assess. x more than 8hrs required, more than 4 mg/hr lorazepam x 3hr or 20 mg/hr diazepam x 3hr required, or resp. distress.										
Patient Identification (Addressograph)	Signa	ture/ Ti	tle			Initials	Sig	gnature /	Title		Initials
								r			

Alcohol Withdrawal Assessment Flowsheet (revised Nov 2003)